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Independent Auditor’s Report 
 
 
Village Council 
Village of Cass City 
Cass City, Michigan 
 
 
Report on the Financial Statements 
 
We have audited the accompanying financial statements of the governmental activities, the business-type activities, each 
major fund, and the aggregate remaining fund information of the Village of Cass City, State of Michigan, as of and for the 
year ended December 31, 2019, and the related notes to the financial statements, which collectively comprise the 
Village’s basic financial statements as listed in the table of contents. 
 
Management’s Responsibility for the Financial Statements  
 
Management is responsible for the preparation and fair presentation of these financial statements in accordance with 
accounting principles generally accepted in the United States of America; this includes the design, implementation, and 
maintenance of internal control relevant to the preparation and fair presentation of financial statements that are free from 
material misstatement, whether due to fraud or error.  
 
Auditor’s Responsibility 
 
Our responsibility is to express opinions on these financial statements based on our audit. We conducted our audit in 
accordance with auditing standards generally accepted in the United States of America and the standards applicable to 
financial audits contained in Government Auditing Standards, issued by the Comptroller General of the United States. 
Those standards require that we plan and perform the audit to obtain reasonable assurance about whether the financial 
statements are free from material misstatement. 
 
An audit involves performing procedures to obtain audit evidence about the amounts and disclosures in the financial 
statements. The procedures selected depend on the auditor’s judgment, including the assessment of the risks of material 
misstatement of the financial statements, whether due to fraud or error. In making those risk assessments, the auditor 
considers internal control relevant to the entity’s preparation and fair presentation of the financial statements in order to 
design audit procedures that are appropriate in the circumstances, but not for the purpose of expressing an opinion on the 
effectiveness of the entity’s internal control. Accordingly, we express no such opinion.  An audit also includes evaluating 
the appropriateness of accounting policies used and the reasonableness of significant accounting estimates made by 
management, as well as evaluating the overall presentation of the financial statements. 
 
We believe that the audit evidence we have obtained is sufficient and appropriate to provide a basis for our audit opinions. 
 
Opinions  
 
In our opinion, the financial statements referred to above present fairly, in all material respects, the respective financial 
position of the governmental activities, the business-type activities, each major fund, and the aggregate remaining fund 
information of the Village of Cass City, State of Michigan, as of December 31, 2019, and the respective changes in 
financial position and, where applicable, cash flows thereof for the year then ended in accordance with accounting 
principles generally accepted in the United States of America. 
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Other Matters 
 
Required Supplementary Information 

Accounting principles generally accepted in the United States of America require that the management’s discussion and 
analysis and budgetary comparison information as listed on the table of contents, be presented to supplement the basic 
financial statements.  Such information, although not a part of the basic financial statements, is required by the 
Governmental Accounting Standards Board, who considers it to be an essential part of financial reporting for placing the 
basic financial statements in an appropriate operational, economic, or historical context.  We have applied certain limited 
procedures to the required supplementary information in accordance with auditing standards generally accepted in the 
United States of America, which consisted of inquiries of management about the methods of preparing the information 
and comparing the information for consistency with management’s responses to our inquiries, the basic financial 
statements, and other knowledge we obtained during our audit of the basic financial statements. We do not express an 
opinion or provide any assurance on the information because the limited procedures do not provide us with sufficient 
evidence to express an opinion or provide any assurance. 

 
Other Information  
 
Our audit was conducted for the purpose of forming opinions on the financial statements that collectively comprise the 
Village of Cass City’s, State of Michigan, basic financial statements. The additional supplementary information is 
presented for purposes of additional analysis and is not a required part of the basic financial statements.  
 
The additional supplementary information is the responsibility of management and was derived from and relates directly to 
the underlying accounting and other records used to prepare the basic financial statements. Such information has been 
subjected to the auditing procedures applied in the audit of the financial statements and certain additional procedures, 
including comparing and reconciling such information directly to the underlying accounting and other records used to 
prepare the financial statements or to the basic financial statements themselves, and other additional procedures in 
accordance with auditing standards generally accepted in the United States of America. In our opinion, the additional 
supplementary information is fairly stated, in all material respects, in relation to the basic financial statements as a whole. 
 
Other Reporting Required by Government Auditing Standards 
 
In accordance with Government Auditing Standards, we have also issued our report dated May 27, 2020, on our 
consideration of the Village of Cass City's, State of Michigan, internal control over financial reporting and on our tests of its 
compliance with certain provisions of laws, regulations, contracts, and grant agreements and other matters. The purpose 
of that report is to describe the scope of our testing of internal control over financial reporting and compliance and the 
results of that testing, and not to provide an opinion on Village of Cass City’s, State of Michigan, internal control over 
financial reporting or on compliance. That report is an integral part of an audit performed in accordance with Government 
Auditing Standards in considering the Village of Cass City's internal control over financial reporting and compliance.  
 
 

 
ANDERSON, TUCKEY, BERNHARDT & DORAN, P.C. 
CERTIFIED PUBLIC ACCOUNTANTS 
CARO, MICHIGAN 
 
May 27, 2020 
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Our discussion and analysis of the Village of Cass City’s financial performance provides an overview of the Village’s financial 
activities for the fiscal year ended December 31, 2019. This analysis hopes to add background and context to the Village’s 
financial statements. 

Financial Highlights 

In 2019, there was much activity in all departments and a great amount of work accomplished in the Village of Cass City.  
This analysis will provide more detail on the projects and improvements.  The Village used fund balance to accomplish the 
street projects, but did not increase the millage or utility rates.   

Maintenance of Village facilities have been neglected and routine repairs have been delayed.  The 2019 maintenance and 
repair projects and Capital Improvement Plan included:  1) renovations to the Municipal Building for $27,259, and a new 
electronic sign for $8,385; 2) replacing the DPW cold storage barn roof for $15,243; 3) inspection, repair, maintenance, and 
painting the Water Tower for $88,410; and 4) installation or minor parts and inspection of the Arsenic Treatment Plant for 
$6,688. 

Major and Local Street Repair was conducted in 2019.  The Village has a 4.9162 millage for these street projects, resulting 
in local tax revenues of $236,308 in 2019, in addition to the Act 51 State funding of $340,074.  As the Village has a 
Transportation Asset Management Plan, we were able to transfer Major Street funds to the Local Street Fund, where our 
need is the greatest.  Major Street Funds of $310,000 were transferred to the Local Street Fund for the street projects on 
Hill and Hunt Streets in addition to the chip and fog seal coating of many local roads in all quadrants of the Village.  The 
2019 Street Projects totaled $386,133.   

Staff inspected and repaired isolated areas of sidewalk in the Village. A contract was awarded for 2019 sidewalk repair in 
the amount of $10,590.  Due to the late start and weather, the work was not able to be completed in the Fall of 2019 and is 
scheduled for Spring 2020.   

The Police Department ordered and replaced a patrol vehicle through a lease to own program at a cost of $12,372 per year 
for a period of three years, with a purchase price of $1 at the end of the lease.   

The Village of Cass City was the recipient of an I-69 Thumb Region First Impressions Tourism (FIT) grant which provided 
the Village with an objective analysis of its strengths and challenges.  The analysis stated that Cass City had many 
amenities; however, they did not promote them.  The FIT Community Leadership Team decided to apply the $2,000 grant 
award towards Wayfaring Signage throughout the Village.  The project was completed in the Fall of 2019, and was well 
received by the community, at a total cost of $4,532, of which were $2,040 were for custom made signs and $2,492 in 
material and installation costs. 

In 2019 there was also planning for the future.  The Village of Cass City had completed the update of our Master Plan.  In 
December 2019, the Village Council approved a quote from Giffels Webster to update our Zoning Ordinance in the amount 
of $25,725.  The Zoning Ordinance update is scheduled for completion in 2020.   

Governmental Resources 

As detailed in this discussion and analysis, the following represents the most significant financial highlights for the year 
ended December 31, 2019. 

The total net position related to the Village’s governmental activities is $4,324,470 (see Table 1). The unrestricted portion 
of net position is $994,999. 

Tax revenues, the Village’s largest revenue source, decreased by $90,105 from 2018. This is representative of the 
decreases in real property values and personal property values, especially due to the phase out of the personal property 
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tax mandated by the Michigan State Legislature. To offset this loss, the Local Community Stabilization Board (a state pass-
through organization) provided $137,789 to Cass City’s General Fund, Major and Local Street Funds.  

State shared revenues, traditionally our second largest revenue source, in addition to Local Community Stabilization Board 
Funds, had a significant increase of $108,700 in 2019.  With an increase of $76,160 in Local Community Stabilization Board 
funding from 2018 levels, this increase was unexpected, as funding levels vary over the multiple years. The Michigan 
Municipal League, Michigan Townships Association, Michigan Municipal Treasurers Association and Michigan Government 
Financial Officers Association are very vocal concerning the stagnation trend of State Shared Revenues, as well as 
unfunded mandates.  It will be necessary for local government to stay informed concerning funding from the State of 
Michigan, due to the budgetary impact of the Covid-19 pandemic. 

Strategic Planning Highlights: 

The Strategic Planning Goals for 2019 were: 1) Pool/Woodland Trails, 2) Blight, 3) Economic Development, 4) Grocery 
Store, and 5) Sidewalk Plan.   Funding to support the strategic planning goals was included in the 2019 budget.   

The Helen Stevens Memorial Pool renovation was completed in the summer of 2019 as a result of many generous 
benefactors and volunteers.  The Village collaborated with Saginaw Basin Land Conservancy and the Cass City Rotary 
Club to make improvements to the Woodland Trails in the Municipal Park.  Improvements were started with an anticipated 
completion date for the Spring of 2020.   

The Village Council approved a second blight ordinance that concerned property maintenance for vacant, abandoned or 
foreclosed properties, and started work on a property maintenance ordinance for rental properties   

The Village continued to work with Michigan Economic Development Corporation as we pursue a Redevelopment Ready 
Community (RRC) Certification to attract new investment and development.  Village staff worked with existing and potential 
businesses to support their investment in Cass City.  Those businesses were located in the downtown corridor, M-81, and 
our Industrial Park.  

Management and elected officials were in regular communication with the owner of Ben’s Supermarket concerning the Cass 
City store.  The water line for Church Street was replaced and the roadway repaired in anticipation of the new grocery store. 
The Village approved an extension of the tax abatement for Ben’s; however, the project did not advance as quickly as 
expected and is now projected to open in 2020.   

Village staff performed a Sidewalk Study to analyze current conditions and make recommendations for sidewalks in the 
Village.  In June 2019, Local Streets had $3,624 in sidewalk replacement, and additional work of $10,590 was approved in 
October 2019, which was postponed to 2020 due to early winter weather. 

USING THIS ANNUAL REPORT 

This annual report consists of a series of financial statements. The statement of net position and the statement of activities 
provide information about the activities of the Village of Cass City as a whole and present a longer–term view of the Village’s 
finances. This longer–term view uses the accrual basis of accounting so that it can measure the cost of providing services 
during the current year, and whether the taxpayers have funded the full cost of providing governmental services. 

The fund financial statements present a short–term view; they tell us how the taxpayers’ resources were spent during the 
year, as well as how much is available for future spending. Fund financial statements also report the Village’s operations in 
more detail than the government–wide financial statements by providing information about the Village’s most significant 
funds. 
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The Village of Cass City as a Whole         
The following table shows, in a condensed format, the net position as of the current date and compared to the prior year: 

Governmental Governmental Business-type Business-type
Activities Activities Activities Activities Total Total

2019 2018 2019 2018 2019 2018
Assets
Other 1,334,261$        1,586,714$       1,582,615$        1,603,797$       2,916,876$     3,190,511$   
Capital 3,232,999          2,966,038         2,757,140          2,797,923         5,990,139       5,763,961     

Total current assets 4,567,260          4,552,752         4,339,755          4,401,720         8,907,015       8,954,472     

Liabilities
Other 82,335               90,987              117,156             72,714              199,491          163,701        
Long-term 160,455             188,226            1,657,800          1,781,065         1,818,255       1,969,291     

Total liabilities 242,790             279,213            1,774,956          1,853,779         2,017,746       2,132,992     

Net Position
 Invested in capital assets, net of 
related debt 3,119,631          2,831,519         1,099,340          1,016,858         4,218,971       3,848,377     
 Restricted for debt service -                     -                    95,600               95,600              95,600            95,600          
 Restricted streets and highways 89,000               159,667            -                    -                    89,000            159,667        
 Restricted for special levied taxes 81,309               78,215              -                    -                    81,309            78,215          
 Restricted for DDA captured taxes 30,986               66,511              30,986            66,511          
 Restricted for Water Recreation 2,849                 2,849              
 Restricted for Playground 5,696                 5,696              
 Restricted for repair replacement -                      -                    

 and improvement -                     -                    80,240               67,680              80,240            67,680          
 Unrestricted 994,999             1,137,627         1,289,619          1,367,803         2,284,618       2,505,430     

Total net position 4,324,470$        4,273,539$       2,564,799$        2,547,941$       6,889,269$     6,821,480$   
 

Village of Cass City net position of governmental activities are $4,324,470 and $2,564,799 for business type activities; of these amounts $994,999 (governmental) 
and $1,289,619 (business–type) are unrestricted assets.   

TABLE 1 
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Table 2
 Governmental 
Activities 2019 

 Governmental 
Activities 2018 

 Business-type 
Activities 2019 

 Business-type 
Activities 2018  Total 2019  Total 2018 

Revenue
Program revenue

Charges for services 213,058$           206,165$           1,247,709$         1,272,058$         1,460,767$         1,478,223$         
Operating grants and contributions 543,213             725,157             -                    -                    543,213             725,157             
Capital grants and contributions -                    -                    -                    -                    

General revenue:   
Property taxes 907,059             997,164             -                    -                    907,059             997,164             
State sources 368,614             259,914             -                    -                    368,614             259,914             
Interest 25,183               23,422               24,418               16,458               49,601               39,880               
Franchise fees and other revenue 118,156             136,958             73,862               44,311               192,018             181,269             

Total revenue 2,175,283          2,348,780          1,345,989          1,332,827          3,521,272          3,681,607          

Program expenses
General government/legislative 534,855             482,500             -                    -                    534,855             482,500             
Public safety 602,370             546,772             -                    -                    602,370             546,772             
Public works 654,957             784,816             -                    -                    654,957             784,816             
Recreation and culture 281,943             283,843             -                    -                    281,943             283,843             
Interest on long-term debt 4,308                 6,747                 -                    -                    4,308                 6,747                 
Water and sewer -                    -                    1,329,131          1,173,689          1,329,131          1,173,689          
Other 45,919               36,586               -                    -                    45,919               36,586               

Total program expenses 2,124,352          2,141,264          1,329,131          1,173,689          3,453,483          3,314,953          

Change in net position 50,931               207,516             16,858               159,138             67,789               366,654             

Net assets - beginning of year 4,273,539          4,066,023          2,547,941          2,388,803          6,821,480          6,454,826          

Net position - end of year 4,324,470$         4,273,539$         2,564,799$         2,547,941$         6,889,269$         6,821,480$         

TABLE 2 
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Governmental Activities 

The Village of Cass City’s total governmental activities revenues were $2,175,283. The expenses were $2,124,352, with a 
net change in position of $50,931.    

The Village Manager and Department Heads closely and consistently monitored its operational costs and spending in all 
areas. The Village Council also approved quarterly budget amendments in 2019. 

Business–Type Activities 

The Village of Cass City operates two Business–type activities: the Water Fund and the Sewer Fund. The Village of Cass 
City’s total business-type activities revenues were $1,345,989. The expenses were $1,329,131 a net change in position of 
$16,858.    

The Village provides treated water to the Village residents.    Raw water is pumped from three Village–owned wells. The 
Village provides water to four Elkland Township customers.  

The Village also provides municipal sanitary sewer services to its residents.  

Village of Cass City Funds 

The fund financial statements provide detailed information about the most significant funds. The Village Council creates 
funds to help manage money for specific purposes as well as show accountability for certain activities, such as State of 
Michigan Act 51, Major and Local Street funds. The Cass City Village governmental major funds include General Fund, 
Major Street Fund and Local Street Fund. The business–type activities include the Water and Sewer Funds. 

a) General Fund 

Functions relating to the general governmental operational activities of the Village, which are financed by property 
tax levies, by distribution of State revenues, and from fees charged for various municipal activities and services are 
recorded in the General Fund. Fund balance increased by $24,967 in the General Fund.  

Management persistently seeks cost cutting measures, and constant review of its expenditures, its operational 
needs and improvements. By multi-level management directly monitoring the budget, we expect to see continued 
positive changes in net position.  

Personnel and Staffing expenditures were evaluated.  Healthcare costs were evaluated and modifications were 
made to the Blue Cross/Blue Shield of Michigan healthcare plan to decrease costs to the Village while still providing 
a generous plan to the employees in 2019.  A wage increase in the amount of 3% was approved.  Employees had 
not received a raise in ten years, with the exception of one minor wage increase over five years ago.  The Teamsters 
Local 214 union contract was in year two of a three-year contract.  The Village of Cass City evaluated the defined 
contribution plan offered to employees through ICMA-RC.  The Village’s 401 and 457 plans were changed at the 
request of the employees and management.  The ICMA-RC plan was replaced by the Michigan Employees 
Retirement System (MERS).  The change in companies did not impact the budget or the Village’s contributions; 
however, the reduced fees for MERS greatly benefited the employees’ portfolios.   
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The Village of Cass City continually strives to partner with local foundations, service clubs, and volunteers for park 
improvements.   

b)   Major and Local Street Funds 

The State of Michigan provides municipalities revenues from gas and weight taxes to reimburse expenditures for 
the maintenance and construction of the Village’s street system. The State requires that these expenditures be 
segregated into a Major Street component and a Local Street component. The Village uses these funds for 
improvements to the Village street system.  

A Transportation Asset Management Plan (TAMP) for street repair over the next six years was done.  The six-year 
Transportation Asset Management Plan has been included in the approved budget and is part of the Capital 
Improvement Plan.   

The 2019 street work included the mil and paving of Hill Street, from Church to Dale Street; and Hunt Street, from 
Huron to Brenda Street.  There were many streets that received a chip and fog sealing process to prolong the life 
of the roadway.  The Village spent $386,133, of which were $158,200 in Major Streets and $227,933 in Local 
Streets.   

The year finished with a decrease in fund balance in Major Streets by $272,203; and an increase in fund balance 
of $134,435 in Local Streets Funds.   

c) Other Governmental Funds 

The Water Recreation Fund is restricted to be used for the Helen Stevens Memorial Pool Renovation, the proposed 
Splash Park, and future maintenance.  This fund was started with a memorial donation of $200,000 from the Chippi 
family.  There were additional donations, memorials and grants. The fund balance was $39,301 as of December 
31, 2019.  The Water Recreation Fund was utilized to repair and renovate the adjacent pool building and equipment 
also.   

Downtown Development Authority (DDA) and Economic Development Corporation (EDC) are two additional funds 
maintained by the Village of Cass City for the growth and enhancement of programs in the Village and the downtown 
corridor. Since 1999, funding for the DDA is a result of the tax capture of taxable valuation of parcels in the DDA 
district.  
 
The DDA sold real property, commonly known as the “Cass City Antique Mall” in November 2018, in the amount of 
$30,000, and in July 2019 sold another DDA owned parcel, commonly known as the “Hunt/Ball property” for 
$18,482. 
 
In March 2019, the DDA made a one-time principle only payment of $30,000, and in November 2019 made another 
one-time principle only payment of $8,000, against a DDA Installment Loan.  Since the revenue from the 2018 
property sale was used to make the corresponding principle payments in 2019, the DDA Fund Balance increased 
in 2018 (when no principle-only payments were made), and decreased fund balance by $35,525 (when principle-
only payments were made).   
 
The DDA owns rental property located at 4453 Leach Street.  The roof of the residential structure was in poor 
condition and in need of replacement.  The DDA improved this property and invested $9,543 in a new roof.  The 
DDA has also been working with Tuscola County Economic Development Corporation and obtained grants to 
perform environmental studies for the Cultural Center, located at 6429 Main Street, at no cost.   
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Funding for the EDC was limited interest revenues, where the year’s activities resulted in an increase of $120 in its 
fund balance. 

d) Water Fund 
 
There were no utility rate increases for water services in 2019.  The Village is awaiting a rate study from the Michigan 
Rural Water Association before considering changes in water rates.  The rate study is scheduled for 2020. The net 
position in the water fund decreased by $46,540, due to significant emphasis on repair and maintenance upgrades. 
 
A ten year inspection is recommended for the Tonka Filtration System, which is our Arsenic Treatment Plant.  In 
2019, the system was twelve years old and starting to experience problems with pneumatic valves.  The village 
spent $5,440 on repair and maintenance of the Arsenic Treatment Plant.   
 
The Water Tower required repair and maintenance at a cost of $88,410.  Repairs were made to the inside of the 
tank, our vent was not to code standards and was replaced, and a new Fall Arrester structure was installed on the 
Water Tower.  The Water Tower was also painted and the lettering for Cass City added.   
 
 

e) Sewer Fund 

There were no utility rate increases for sewer services in 2019.  The Village Council was awaiting the results of the 
Wastewater Asset Management Plan and rate study before considering any rate increases.  The Wastewater 
Treatment fund had an increase in net position of $66,425.  

This department provides increasing levels of independent lab work for drink water analysis of local villages, 
churches, parks and restaurants, as well as lagoon testing for other municipalities which generated $27,143 in 
revenue in 2019.   

Highlighting the 2019 Wastewater Treatment Plant (WWTP) activities was the replacement of the Grit Master 
System at a total cost of $140,456.  This purchase was funded through an unsecured loan of $141,000 with 
Chemical Bank.     

The main source of treatment for the village wastewater is our Rotating Biological Contactors (RBCs).  The RBCs 
are powered by three blowers.  The blower panel which controls the blowers was replaced at a cost of $7,976. 

In 2019, there was an unexpected expense of replacing our Raw Pump #1 at the Wastewater Treatment Plant due 
to failure.  The Village Council approved the purchase of a new pump and volute casing at a cost of $15,816. 

Capital investment in the aging Wastewater Treatment Plant has increased and is expected to continue to rise.  The 
plant has been well-maintained and is functioning up to standards.  Recently major investments have been required 
totaling over $385,000, and the Village will have to consider plans and funding for a new Waste Water Treatment 
Plant or plant rehabilitation.   

General Fund Budgetary Highlights 

Over the course of the year, the Village Council and Village administration monitor and amend the budget quarterly to 
account for unanticipated events during the year. The most significant change was the increases in Act 51 revenues and 
decreases in local property tax revenues, especially personal property taxes. Other budgetary impacts include the slight 
increase in State Shared Revenue dollars and local contributions from public and private donors to enhance the parks, pool 
and recreation infrastructure.  
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Capital Asset and Debt Administration 

At the end of 2019, the Village of Cass City recorded an investment total of $24,250,635 in a wide range of capital assets, 
including land, buildings, equipment, computer equipment, and water and sewer lines. Capital assets increased $707,800 
from 2018.   The increase in capital assets was due to the investment in street improvement projects, the renovation of the 
Helen Stevens Memorial Pool, the water line upgrades, tower maintenance, and Arsenic Treatment Plant improvements 
and Motor Vehicle Fund equipment additions. The value of the capital assets, net of depreciation contained in this report, 
is $5,990,139 at the end of 2019.   

The Village has implemented a six (6) year Capital Improvement Plan in accordance for the State of Michigan’s standards 
for Redevelopment Ready Communities, which was included as part of the budget and approved in December of 2019. 

The Village of Cass City’s debt level is less than one percent (1%) of the taxable value.  Debt reported in these financial 
statements includes a loan from USDA Rural Development for the construction of the arsenic treatment plant and refinancing 
of an installment loan for a water well-constructed in 1998. Finally, there is debt reported from the lease of police vehicles 
and other equipment. The Village has leased police vehicles since 1998 in an effort to save money. The emergency 
response vehicles are leased for three years and purchased for $1 at the end of the lease term.  All debt is reported as a 
liability on the statement of net position in this document. 

Economic Factors   

The Village of Cass City’s budget for 2019 was based on no increases for cost of living, revenues and expenditures. The 
baseline budget was a carryover from the actual 2018 numbers. 

The Village of Cass City’s budget for 2020 must be cautious due to the unpredictable tax revenue environment in Michigan. 
Personal Property Tax elimination weighs heavy on fiscal management. Economic factors change daily, with the changes 
in national and state economic policy, new forecasts and trends, changes in the interest rates, changes in the state 
legislature, minimum wage increases, changes in healthcare, and now the impact of the Covid-19 pandemic. 

The Village Council is actively involved with the oversight of the Village’s budget and provides conservative direction to 
staff.  The constant monitoring of the budget and the quarterly budget amendments has been a proactive approach and put 
the Village in a good position.  The Village has a strong financial foundation for future planned improvements.   

Contacting the Village of Cass City’s Management 

This financial report is intended to provide our citizens, taxpayers, customers and investors with a general overview of the 
Village of Cass City’s finances and to show the Village’s accountability for the money it receives. If you have any questions 
about this report or need additional information, we welcome you to contact the Village Manager, 6506 Main Street, Cass 
City, MI 48726, (989) 872-2911 or via email at ccmanager@casscity.org.  

 

mailto:villagemanager@casscity.org
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Governmental Business-type

Activities Activities Total

ASSETS

Cash and cash equivalents 1,229,867$      1,136,496$       2,366,363$          

Receivables

Taxes 3,114               -                        3,114                   

Customers 36,855             201,483            238,338               

Accrued interest and other 1,957               2,272                4,229                   

Less allowance for uncollectible accounts (3,114)              -                        (3,114)                  

Due from other units of government 107,725           -                        107,725               

Internal balances (66,524)            66,524              -                           

Prepaid items 24,381             -                        24,381                 

Restricted assets

Cash and cash equivalents -                       175,840            175,840               

Capital assets, net

Non-depreciated 461,354           461,354               

Depreciated 2,771,645        2,757,140         5,528,785            

TOTAL ASSETS 4,567,260        4,339,755         8,907,015            

LIABILITIES

Current liabilities

Accounts payable 30,159             74,758              104,917               

Accrued and other liabilities 31,868             42,398              74,266                 

Unearned revenue 20,308             -                        20,308                 

Noncurrent liabilities

Due within one year 50,320             60,200              110,520               

Due in more than one year 74,755             1,597,600         1,672,355            

Total other postemployment benefits liability 35,380             -                        35,380                 

TOTAL LIABILITIES 242,790           1,774,956         2,017,746            

NET POSITION

Net investment in capital assets 3,119,631        1,099,340         4,218,971            

Restricted for: 

Debt service 95,600              95,600                 

Special levied taxes 81,309             -                        81,309                 

Streets and highways 89,000             -                        89,000                 

DDA captured taxes 30,986             30,986                 

Water recreation 2,849               2,849                   

Playground 5,696               5,696                   

Repair and replacement equipment 80,240              80,240                 

Unrestricted 994,999           1,289,619         2,284,618            

TOTAL NET POSITION 4,324,470$      2,564,799$       6,889,269$          

Village of Cass City
Statement of Net Position

December 31, 2019

Primary Government

See notes to financial statements. 11



Operating Capital
Charges for Grants and Grants and Governmental Business-type

Functions/Programs Expenses Services Contributions Contributions Activities Activities Total

Primary government
Governmental activities:

General government 534,855$       213,058$     17,974$           -$                    (303,823)$        -$                      (303,823)$     
Public safety 602,370         -                   843                  -                      (601,527)          -                        (601,527)       
Public works 654,957         -                   478,901           -                      (176,056)          -                        (176,056)       
Community and economic development 45,919           -                   -                      -                      (45,919)            -                        (45,919)         
Recreation and culture 281,943         45,495             (236,448)          (236,448)       
Interest on long-term debt 4,308             -                   -                      -                      (4,308)              -                        (4,308)           

Total Governmental activities 2,124,352      213,058       543,213           -                      (1,368,081)       -                        (1,368,081)    

Business-type activities:
Sewer 685,850         718,494       -                      -                      -                       32,644              32,644          
Water 643,281         529,215       -                      -                      -                       (114,066)           (114,066)       

Total Business-type activities 1,329,131      1,247,709    -                      -                      -                       (81,422)             (81,422)         

Total Primary government 3,453,483$    1,460,767$  543,213$         -$                    (1,368,081)       (81,422)             (1,449,503)    

General revenues
     Property taxes 907,059           -                        907,059        
     State sources 368,614           -                        368,614        
     Unrestricted investment earnings 25,183             24,418              49,601          
     Sale of fixed assets (51,383)            27,685              (23,698)         
     Miscellaneous 169,539           46,177              215,716        

Total general revenues and transfers 1,419,012        98,280              1,517,292     

Change in net position 50,931             16,858              67,789          

Net position - beginning of year, restated 4,273,539        2,547,941         6,821,480     

Net position - end of year 4,324,470$      2,564,799$       6,889,269$   

Program Revenues Changes in Net Position
Primary Government

Village of Cass City
Statement of Activities

Year Ended December 31, 2019

Net (Expense) Revenue and 

See notes to financial statements. 12



Nonmajor Total

Governmental Governmental

General Major Street Local Street Funds Funds

ASSETS

Cash and cash equivalents 426,176$    144,085$      215,826$     94,078$          880,165$        

Receivables

Taxes 3,114          -                   -                   -                      3,114              

Customers 35,302        -                   -                   650                 35,952            

Interest 685             213               360              95                   1,353              

Less allowance for uncollectible accounts (3,114)         -                   -                   -                      (3,114)             

Due from other units of government 45,177        47,044          15,504         -                      107,725          

Prepaid items 24,381        -                   -                   -                      24,381            

TOTAL ASSETS 531,721$   191,342$     231,690$    94,823$         1,049,576$    

LIABILITIES

Accounts payable 1,953$        4,997$          20,495$       77$                 27,522$          

Accrued and other liabilities 21,664        443               3,198           7                     25,312            

Unearned revenue 19,008        -                   -                   1,300              20,308            

Total liabilities 42,625        5,440            23,693         1,384              73,142            

DEFERRED INFLOWS OF RESOURCES

Unavailable revenue - miscellaneous 1,950          -                   -                   -                      1,950              

Total deferred inflows of resources 1,950          -                   -                   -                      1,950              

FUND BALANCES

Nonspendable:

Prepaid items 24,381        -                   -                   -                      24,381            

Restricted for:

Special levied taxes 81,309        -                   -                   81,309            

Streets and highways -                  80,970          8,030           89,000            

DDA captured taxes -                  -                   -                   30,986            30,986            

Water recreation 2,248          601                 2,849              

Playground 5,696          5,696              

Committed to:

Police 72,595        -                   -                   72,595            

Assigned to:

EDC -                  -                   -                   23,152            23,152            

Subsequent year expenditures 20,762        104,932        199,967       38,700            364,361          

Unassigned 280,155      -                   -                   -                      280,155          

Total fund balances 487,146      185,902        207,997       93,439            974,484          

TOTAL LIABILITIES, DEFERRED INFLOWS 

OF RESOURCES AND FUND BALANCE 531,721$   191,342$     231,690$    94,823$         1,049,576$    

Special Revenue Funds

Village of Cass City

Governmental Funds
Balance Sheet

December 31, 2019

See notes to financial statements. 13



Total fund balances for governmental funds 974,484$    

Total net position for governmental activities in the statement of net position is different because:

Capital assets used in governmental activities are not financial resources and therefore are not 2,797,513   

not reported in the funds.

Certain receivables are not available to pay for current period expenditures and, therefore are 1,950          

deferred inflows of resources in the funds.

Long-term liabilities applicable to  governmental activities are not due and payable in the current

period and accordingly are not reported as fund liabilities.

Long term debt obligations (59,884)       

Compensated absences (11,707)       

Total other postemployment benefit liability (35,380)       

Internal service funds are included as part of governmental activities. 657,494      

Net position of governmental activities 4,324,470$ 

Village of Cass City
Reconciliation of Fund Balances of Governmental Funds

to Net Position of Governmental Activities
December 31, 2019

See notes to financial statements. 14



Nonmajor Total

Major Local Governmental Governmental

General Street Street Funds Funds

Revenues

Taxes 644,741$  23,955$     212,353$ 28,219$           909,268$         

State shared revenue  268,847    -                 -               -                       268,847           

Other state grants 100,610    304,507     174,394   -                       579,511           

Local contributions 17,974      -                 -               45,495             63,469             

Charges for services 209,510    -                 -               -                       209,510           

Fines and forfeitures 3,548        -                 -               -                       3,548               

Interest income 7,161        6,831         2,528       2,148               18,668             

Rental income -                -                 -               10,600             10,600             

Administration fee revenue 135,032    -                 -               -                       135,032           

Other revenue 17,935      1,545         -               -                       19,480             

Total revenues 1,405,358 336,838     389,275   86,462             2,217,933        

Expenditures

Current

General government 463,360    -                 -               -                       463,360           

Public safety 509,796    -                 -               -                       509,796           

Public works 149,263    299,041     564,840   -                       1,013,144        

Community and economic development 7,918        -                 -               35,246             43,164             

Recreation and culture 250,054    -                 -               174,244           424,298           

Debt service

Principal retirement -                -                 -               54,335             54,335             

Interest and fiscal charges -                -                 -               4,308               4,308               

Total expenditures 1,380,391 299,041     564,840   268,133           2,512,405        

Excess (deficiency) of revenues over expenditures 24,967      37,797       (175,565)  (181,671)         (294,472)         

Other financing sources (uses)

Transfers in -                -                 310,000   -                       310,000           

Transfers out -                (310,000)   -               -                       (310,000)         

Sale of fixed assets -                -                 -               18,482             18,482             

Total other financing sources and uses -                (310,000)   310,000   18,482             18,482             

Net change in fund balance 24,967      (272,203)   134,435   (163,189)         (275,990)         

Fund balance - beginning of year 462,179    458,105     73,562     256,628           1,250,474        

Fund balance - end of year 487,146$  185,902$   207,997$ 93,439$           974,484$         

Special Revenue Funds

Village of Cass City

Governmental Funds
Statement of Revenues, Expenditures and Changes in Fund Balances

Year Ended December 31, 2019

See notes to financial statements. 15



Net change in fund balances - Total governmental funds (275,990)$        

Total change in net position reported for governmental activities in the statement of

activities is different because:

Governmental funds report capital outlays as expenditures.  However, in the statement 

of activities, the cost of those assets is allocated over their estimated useful

lives and reported as depreciation expense.

Depreciation expense (236,410)          

Capital outlay 584,896           

Sale of capital assets (net book value) (69,865)            

Revenues in the statement of activities that do not provide current financial resources

are not reported as revenue in the funds.

Miscellaneous (2,209)              

Expenses are recorded when incurred in the statement of activities

Compensated absences (768)                 

The statement of net position reports the OPEB liability related to the OPEB liability and

OPEB expense. However, the amount recorded on the governmental funds equals actual 

OPEB contributions.

Net change in total OPEB liability 7,388               

Bond proceeds are reported as financing sources in the governmental funds and

thus contribute to the change in fund balance.  In the statement of net position, 

however, issuing debt increases long-term liabilities and does not affect the

statement of activities.  Similarly, repayment of principal is an expenditure in the

governmental funds but reduces the liability in the statement of net position.

Repayments of long-term debt 54,335             

Internal service funds are also included as governmental activities (10,446)            

Change in net position of governmental activities 50,931$           

Year Ended December 31, 2019

Village of Cass City
Reconciliation of the Statement of Revenues, Expenditures and Changes
in Fund Balances of Governmental Funds to the Statement of Activities

See notes to financial statements. 16



Governmental 

Activities

Total

Enterprise Internal

Sewer Water Funds Service Funds

ASSETS

Current assets

Cash and cash equivalents 296,754$      839,742$     1,136,496$ 349,702$         

Receivables - net

Customers 118,553        82,930         201,483      903                  

Accrued interest and other 515               1,757           2,272          604                  

Total current assets 415,822        924,429       1,340,251   351,209           

Noncurrent assets

Restricted assets

Cash and cash equivalents -                    175,840       175,840      -                       

Capital assets, net 1,108,962     1,648,178    2,757,140   435,486           

Total noncurrent assets 1,108,962     1,824,018    2,932,980   435,486           

TOTAL ASSETS 1,524,784     2,748,447    4,273,231   786,695           

LIABILITIES

Current liabilities

Accounts payable 7,153            67,605         74,758        2,637               

Accrued and other liabilities 18,638          23,760         42,398        6,556               

Current portion of noncurrent liabilities 28,200          32,000         60,200        31,250             

Total current liabilities 53,991          123,365       177,356      40,443             

Noncurrent liabilities

Long-term debt net of current portion 84,600          1,513,000    1,597,600   22,234             

Total noncurrent liabilities 84,600          1,513,000    1,597,600   22,234             

Total liabilities 138,591        1,636,365    1,774,956   62,677             

Net Position

Net investment in capital assets 996,162        103,178       1,099,340   382,002           

Restricted for: 

Bond and interest redemption -                    95,600         95,600        -                       

Repair replacement and improvement -                    80,240         80,240        -                       

Unrestricted 390,031        833,064       1,223,095   342,016           

Total net position 1,386,193$   1,112,082$  2,498,275   724,018$         

Some amounts reported for business-type activities in the statement of net position are

different because certain internal service funds assets and liabilities are reported with

business-type activities 66,524        

Net position of business-type activities 2,564,799$ 

Business-type Activities

Village of Cass City

Proprietary Funds
Statement of Net Position

December 31, 2019

See notes to financial statements. 17



Governmental 
Activities

Total
Enterprise Internal

Sewer Water Funds Service Funds
Operating revenue
Customer fees 691,351$    529,215$      1,220,566$ -$                      
Billings to other funds -                  -                   -                  286,544            
Charges for services -                  -                   -                  1,432                
Other revenue 27,143        46,177          73,320        -                        

Total operating revenue 718,494      575,392        1,293,886   287,976            

Operating expenses
Personnel services 321,563      158,903        480,466      55,885              
Supplies 33,732        35,998          69,730        32,973              
Contractual services 69,542        123,910        193,452      274                   
Utilities 67,198        42,036          109,234      -                        
Repairs and maintenance 16,160        109,947        126,107      24,075              
Other expenses 52,323        42,434          94,757        83,197              
Depreciation 119,222      64,601          183,823      115,985            

Total operating expenses 679,740      577,829        1,257,569   312,389            

Operating income (loss) 38,754        (2,437)          36,317        (24,413)             

Nonoperating revenue (expenses)
Interest income 4,460          19,958          24,418        6,515                
Gain on sale of assets 27,685        -                   27,685        4,425                
Interest expense (4,474)         (64,061)        (68,535)       -                        

Total nonoperating revenues (expenses) 27,671        (44,103)        (16,432)       10,940              

Change in net position 66,425        (46,540)        19,885        (13,473)             

Net position - beginning of year 1,319,768   1,158,622     737,491            

Net position - end of year 1,386,193$ 1,112,082$   724,018$          

Some amounts reported for business-type activities in the statement of activities are different
because the net revenue (expense) of certain internal service funds is reported with
business-type activities (3,027)         

Change in net position of business-type activities 16,858$      

Business-type Activities

Village of Cass City

Proprietary Funds
Statement of Revenues, Expenses and Changes in Fund Net Position

Year Ended December 31, 2019

See notes to financial statements. 18



Governmental 
Activities

Total
Enterprise Internal

Sewer Water Funds Service Funds
Cash flows from operating activities
Receipts from customers 758,127$           604,070$     1,362,197$        1,756$               
Receipts from interfund users -                         -                   -                          286,544             
Payments to suppliers (236,180)            (277,179)      (513,359)            (142,543)            
Payments to employees (322,151)            (158,195)      (480,346)            (53,754)              
Payments for interfund services used (22,050)              (13,549)        (35,599)              -                         

Net cash provided (used) by operating activities 177,746             155,147       332,893             92,003               

Cash flows from capital and related financing activities
Proceeds from capital debt -                         -                   -                          66,802               
Purchases/construction of capital assets (24,542)              (118,499)      (143,041)            (104,324)            
Principal and interest paid on long-term debt (96,739)              (95,061)        (191,800)            (33,619)              
Proceeds from sale of capital assets 27,685               -                   27,685                4,425                 

Net cash used by capital and related financing activities (93,596)              (213,560)      (307,156)            (66,716)              

Cash flows from investing activities
Interest received 4,460                 19,958         24,418                6,515                 

Net cash provided (used) by investing activities 4,460                 19,958         24,418                6,515                 

Net change in cash and cash equivalents 88,610               (38,455)        50,155                31,802               

Cash and cash equivalents - beginning of year 208,144             1,054,037    1,262,181          317,900             

Cash and cash equivalents - end of year 296,754$           1,015,582$  1,312,336$        349,702$           

Reconciliation of operating income (loss) to net cash
provided (used) by operating activities
Operating income (loss) 38,754$             (2,437)$        36,317$             (24,413)$            
Adjustments to reconcile operating income to net cash
from operating activities:

Depreciation and amortization expense 119,222             64,601         183,823             115,985             
Changes in assets and liabilities:

Receivables (net) 39,633               28,678         68,311                324                    
Accounts payable (19,275)              63,597         44,322                (2,024)                
Accrued and other liabilities (588)                   708              120                     2,131                 

Net cash (used) provided by operating activities 177,746$           155,147$     332,893$           92,003$             

Business-type Activities

Village of Cass City

Proprietary Funds
Statement of Cash Flows

Year Ended December 31, 2019

See notes to financial statements. 19
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NOTE 1 - SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES 
 
Reporting entity 
 
The Village of Cass City is governed by an elected seven-member Council. The accompanying financial statements 
present the government entities for which the Village is considered to be financially accountable. 
 
Government-wide and fund financial statements 
 
The government-wide financial statements (i.e., the statement of net position and the statement of changes in net 
position) report information on all of the non-fiduciary activities of the primary government and its component units. 
Government activities, which normally are supported by taxes and intergovernmental revenues, are reported separately 
from business-type activities, which rely to a significant extent on fees and charges for support.  
 
The statement of activities demonstrates the degree to which the direct expenses of a given function or segments are 
offset by program revenues. Direct expenses are those that are clearly identifiable with a specific function or segment. 
Program revenues include 1) charges to customers or applicants who purchase, use, or directly benefit from goods, 
services, or privileges provided by a given function or segment and 2) grants and contributions that are restricted to 
meeting the operational or capital requirements of a particular function or segment. Taxes and other items not properly 
included among program revenues are reported instead as general revenues. 
 
Separate financial statements are provided for governmental funds and proprietary funds, even though the latter are 
excluded from the government-wide financial statements. Major individual governmental funds and major individual 
enterprise funds are reported as separate columns in the fund financial statements. 
 
BASIS OF PRESENTATION – GOVERNMENT-WIDE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS: 
While separate government-wide and fund financial statements are presented, they are interrelated. The government 
activities column incorporates data from governmental funds. Separate financial statements are provided for 
governmental funds and fiduciary funds, even though the latter are excluded from government-wide financial statements. 
As a general rule, the effect of interfund activity has been eliminated from the government-wide financial statements. 
 
BASIS OF PRESENTATION – FUND FINANCIAL STATEMENTS: 
The fund financial statements provide information about the Village’s funds. Separate statements for each fund category – 
government – are presented. The emphasis of fund financial statements is on major governmental funds. All remaining 
governmental funds are aggregated and reported as nonmajor funds. Major individual governmental funds are reported as 
separate columns in the fund financial statements. 
 
The Village reports the following major governmental funds: 
 

The General Fund is the Village’s primary operating fund. It accounts for all financial resources of the general 
government, except those required to be accounted for in another fund. 
 
The Major Street Fund accounts for the maintenance and improvement activities for streets designated as “major” 
within the Village. Funding is primarily through state shared gas and weight taxes. 
 
The Local Street Fund accounts for maintenance and improvement activities for streets designated as “local” within 
the Village. Funding is primarily through state shared gas and weight taxes. 

 
The Village reports the following major proprietary funds: 

 
The Sewer Fund accounts for the activities of the sewage collection system. 
 
The Water Fund accounts for the activities of the water distribution system. 
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Additionally, the Village reports the following: 
 
The nonmajor special revenue funds account for the proceeds of specific revenue sources requiring separate 
accounting because of legal or regulatory provisions or administrative requirements. 
 
Internal Service Funds account for major machinery and equipment purchases and maintenance provided to other 
departments of the Village on a cost reimbursement basis. 

 
Measurement focus and basis of accounting 
 
The accounting and financial reporting treatment is determined by the applicable measurement focus and basis of 
accounting. Measurement focus indicates the type of resources being measured such as current financial resources or 
economic resources. The basis of accounting indicates the timing of transactions or events for recognition in the financial 
statements. 
 
The government-wide financial statements are reported using the economic resources measurement focus and the 
accrual basis of accounting. Revenues are recorded when earned and expenses are recorded when a liability is incurred, 
regardless of the timing of related cash flows. Property taxes are recognized as revenues in the year for which they are 
levied. Grants and similar items are recognized as revenue as soon as all eligibility requirements imposed by the provider 
have been met. 
 
Governmental fund financial statements are reported using the current financial resources measurement focus and the 
modified accrual basis of accounting. Revenues are recognized as soon as they are both measurable and available. 
Revenues are considered to be available when they are collectible within the current period or soon enough thereafter to 
pay liabilities of the current period. For this purpose, the Village considers revenues to be available if they are collected 
within 60 days of the end of the current fiscal period. Expenditures generally are recorded when a liability is incurred, as 
under accrual accounting. However, debt service expenditures, as well as expenditures related to compensated absences 
and claims and judgments, are recorded only when payment is due. General capital asset acquisitions are reported as 
expenditures in governmental funds. Issuance of long-term debt and acquisitions under capital lease are reported as other 
financing sources. 
 
Property taxes, state revenue sharing, sales taxes, franchise taxes, licenses, and interest associated with the current 
fiscal period are all considered to be susceptible to accrual and so have been recognized as revenues of the current fiscal 
period. Only the portion of special assessments receivable due within the current fiscal period is considered to be 
susceptible to accrual as revenue of the current period. All other revenue items are considered to be measurable and 
available only when cash is received by the Village. 
 
As a general rule the effect of interfund activity has been eliminated from the government-wide financial statements. 
Exceptions to this general rule are payments-in-lieu of taxes where the amounts are reasonably equivalent in value to the 
interfund services provided and other charges between the Village’s water and sewer function and various other functions 
of the Village. Elimination of these charges would distort the direct costs and program revenues reported for the various 
functions concerned. 
 
The proprietary funds are reported using the economic resources measurement focus and the accrual basis of 
accounting. 
 
Proprietary funds distinguish operating revenues and expenses from nonoperating items. Operating revenues and 
expenses generally result from providing services and producing and delivering goods in connection with a proprietary 
fund’s principal ongoing operations. The principal operating revenues of the sewer and water funds and the internal 
service funds are charges to customers for sales and services. The Village also recognizes as operating revenue the 
portion of tap fees intended to recover the cost of connecting new customers to the system. Operating expenses for sewer 
and water funds and the internal service funds include the cost of sales and services, administrative expenses, and 
depreciation on capital assets. All revenues and expenses not meeting this definition are reported as nonoperating 
revenues and expenses. 
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When both restricted and unrestricted resources are available for use, it is the Village’s policy to use restricted resources 
first, then unrestricted resources as they are needed. 
 
Budgetary information 
 
Budgetary basis of accounting: 
 
Annual budgets are adopted on a basis consistent with generally accepted accounting principles. 
 
Appropriations in all budgeted funds lapse at the end of the fiscal year even if they have related encumbrances. 
Encumbrances are commitments related to unperformed (executor) contracts for goods or services (i.e., purchase orders, 
contracts, and commitments). The Village does not utilize encumbrance accounting. 
 
The Village follows these procedures in establishing the budgetary data reflected in the financial statements: 
 
1. A budget is submitted to the Council for the fiscal year commencing on January 1. The operating budget includes 

proposed expenditures and the means of financing them. The level of control for the budgets is at the functional 
level as set forth and presented as required supplementary information. 

 
2. Public hearings are conducted to obtain taxpayer comments. 

 
3. Prior to January 1, the budget is legally adopted by the Council resolution pursuant to the Uniform Budgeting and 

Accounting Act (P.A. 621 of 1978).  The Act requires that the budget be amended prior to the end of the fiscal year 
when necessary to adjust appropriations if it appears that revenues and other financing sources will be less than 
anticipated or so that expenditures will not be in excess of original estimates.  Expenditures shall not be made or 
incurred, unless authorized in the budget, or in excess of the amount appropriated.   
 

4. Transfers may be made for budgeted amounts between major expenditure functions within any fund; however, 
these transfers and any revisions that alter the total expenditures of any fund must be approved by the Council. 

 
5. The budget was amended during the year with supplemental appropriations, the last one approved prior to the year 

ended December 31st. The Village does not consider these amendments to be significant. 
 

During the year, the Village incurred no expenditures in certain budgeted funds which were in excess of the amounts 
appropriated.  
 
Assets, liabilities, deferred outflows/inflows of resources, and net position/fund balance 
 
1. Cash and cash equivalents – Cash and cash equivalents are considered to be cash on hand, demand deposits, 

and short-term investments with a maturity of three months or less when acquired. 
 
2. Investments - Investments are stated at fair value based on quoted market price. Certificate of deposits are stated 

at cost which approximates fair value. 
 
3. Receivables and payables – In general, outstanding balances between funds are reported as “due to/from other 

funds.” Activity between funds that is representative of lending/borrowing arrangement outstanding at the end of 
the fiscal year is referred to as “advances to/from other funds.” Any residual balances outstanding between the 
governmental activities and the business-type activities are reported in the government-wide financial statements 
as “internal balances.” 

 
4. Inventories and prepaid items – Inventories are valued at cost, on a first-in, first-out basis. Inventories of 

governmental funds are recorded as expenditures when consumed rather than when purchased. Inventories and 
prepaid items of governmental funds are recorded as expenditures when consumed rather than when purchased. 
Certain payments to vendors reflect costs applicable to future fiscal years and are recorded as prepaid items in 
both government-wide and fund financial statements. 
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5. Restricted assets – Certain revenue bonds of the Enterprise Funds require amounts to be set aside for a bond 
reserve. These amounts have been classified as restricted cash. See notes 14 and 15 for details. 

 
6. Capital assets – Capital assets, which include property, plant and equipment, are reported in the applicable 

governmental or business-type activities column in the government-wide financial statements. Capital assets are 
defined by the Village as assets with an initial individual cost of more than $5,000 and an estimated useful life in 
excess of one year. Such assets are recorded at historical cost or estimated historical cost, if purchased or 
constructed. 

 
The reported value excludes normal maintenance and repairs which are essentially amounts spent in relation to 
capital assets that do not increase the capacity or efficiency of the item or extend its useful life beyond the original 
estimate. In the case of donations the Village values these capital assets at the estimated fair value of the item at 
the date of its donation. 
 
Property, plant and equipment are depreciated using the straight-line method over the following useful lives: 
 
Buildings 10 to 40 years
Building improvements 10 to 40 years
Water and sewer lines 10 to 40 years
Vehicles 5 to 10 years
Office equipment 5 to 10 years
Computer equipment 5 to 10 years  
 

7. Deferred outflows/inflows of resources 
 
Deferred outflows: 
In addition to assets, the statement of financial position will sometimes report a separate section of deferred 
outflows of resources. This separate financial statement element, deferred outflows of resources, represents a 
consumption of net position that applies to a future period(s) and so will not be recognized as an outflow of 
resources (expense/expenditure) until then. The Village has no items that qualify for this category. 
 
Deferred inflows: 
In addition to liabilities, the statement of financial position will sometimes report a separate section for deferred 
inflows of resources. This separate financial statement element, deferred inflows of resources, represents an 
acquisition of net position that applies to a future period(s) and so will not be recognized as an inflow of resources 
(revenue) until that time. The Village has one item that qualifies for this category. The item, unavailable revenue, 
is reported only in the governmental funds balance sheet. The governmental funds report unavailable revenue 
from receipts that are received after 60 days of year end. These amounts are deferred and recognized as inflow 
of resources in the period that the amounts become available.  

 
8. Net position flow assumption 
 

Sometimes the Village will fund outlays for a particular purpose from both restricted (e.g., restricted bond or grant 
proceeds) and unrestricted resources. In order to calculate the amounts to report as restricted – net position and 
unrestricted – net position in the government-wide financial statements, a flow assumption must be made about 
the order in which the resources are considered to be applied. It is the Village’s policy to consider restricted – net 
position to have been depleted before unrestricted – net position is applied. 
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9. Fund balance flow assumptions 
 

Sometimes the Village will fund outlays for a particular purpose from both restricted and unrestricted resources 
(the total of committed, assigned, and unassigned fund balance). In order to calculate the amounts to reported as 
restricted, committed, assigned, and unassigned fund balance in the governmental fund financial statements a 
flow assumption must be made about the order in which the resources are considered to be applied. It is the 
Village’s policy to consider restricted fund balance to have been depleted before using any of the components of 
unrestricted fund balance. Further, when the components of unrestricted fund balance can be used for the same 
purpose, committed fund balance is depleted first, followed by assigned fund balance. Unassigned fund balance 
is applied last. 
 

10. Fund balance policies 
 

Fund balance of governmental funds is reported in various categories based on the nature of any limitations 
requiring the use of the resources for specific purposes. The Village itself can establish limitations on the use of 
resources through either a commitment (committed fund balance) or an assignment (assigned fund balance). 
 
The committed fund balance classification includes amounts that can be used only for the specific purposes 
determined by a formal action of the Village’s highest level of decision-making authority. The Village Council is the 
highest level of decision-making authority for the Village that can, by adoption of a board action prior to the end of 
the fiscal year, commit fund balance. Once adopted, the limitation imposed by the board action remains in place 
until a similar action is taken (the adoption of another board action) to remove or revise the limitation. 
 
Amounts in the assigned fund balance classification are intended to be used by the Village for specific purposes 
but do not meet the criteria to be classified as committed. The Village may also assign fund balances as it does 
when appropriating fund balance to cover a gap between estimated revenue and appropriations in the 
subsequent year’s appropriated budget. Unlike commitments, assignments generally only exist temporarily. In 
other words, an additional action does not normally have to be taken for the removal of an assignment. 
Conversely, as discussed above, an additional action is essential to either remove or revise a commitment. 

 
Revenues and expenditures/expenses 
 
1. Program revenues 

 
Amounts reported as program revenues include 1) charges to customers or applicants for goods, services, or 
privileges provided, 2) operating grants and contributions, and 3) capital grants and contributions, including 
special assessments. Internally dedicated resources are reported as general revenues rather than as program 
revenues. Likewise, general revenues include all taxes. 
 

2. Property taxes 
 
All trade and property tax receivables are shown as net of allowance for uncollectible amounts. Property taxes are 
levied on each January 1st on the taxable valuation of property as of the preceding December 31st. Taxes are 
considered delinquent on March 1st of the following year, at which time penalties and interest are assessed. 
 
The 2019 taxable valuation of the Village totaled $47,179,089, on which ad valorem taxes consisted of 12.4625 
mills for operating purposes, 4.9162 mills for street purposes, .08 mills for landfill purposes, and .68 mills for 
promotion purposes. This resulted in $599,045 for operating expenses, $236,308 for street expenses, $3,840 for 
landfill expenses, and $32,681 for promotion expenses, exclusive of any Michigan Tax Tribunal or Board of 
Review adjustments. 

 
3. Compensated absences – Exchange time is defined as those hours that the employee can take as paid time off in 

lieu of overtime pay. The maximum number of hours that can be held in a bank at any one time during a fiscal 
year is forty. Exchange time can be carried over into the next fiscal year but must be used during the first three 
months of the new fiscal year.  
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4. Long-term obligations – In the government-wide financial statements, and proprietary fund types in the fund 
financial statements, long-term debt and other long-term obligations are reported as liabilities in the applicable 
governmental activities, business-type activities, or proprietary fund type statement of net position. Bond 
premiums and discounts are deferred and amortized over the life of the bonds using the effective interest method. 
Bonds payable are reported net of the applicable bond premium or discount. Bond issuance costs are reported as 
expenses in the year which they are incurred. 

 
In the fund financial statements, governmental fund types recognize bond premiums and discounts, as well as 
bond issuance costs, during the current period. The face amount of debt issued is reported as other financing 
sources. Premiums received on debt issuances are reported as other financing sources while discounts on debt 
issuances are reported as other financing uses. Issuance costs, whether or not withheld from the actual debt 
proceeds received, are reported as debt service expenditures. 
 

5. Use of estimates 
 
The process of preparing financial statements in conformity with accounting principles generally accepted in the 
United States of America requires the use of estimates and assumptions regarding certain types of assets, 
liabilities, revenues, and expenditures. Such estimates primarily relate to unsettled transactions and events as of 
the date of the financial statements. Accordingly, upon settlement, actual results may differ from estimated 
amounts. 

 
 
NOTE 2 - CASH & INVESTMENTS 
At year end the Village’s deposits were reported in the basic financial statements in the following categories: 

 Governmental 
Activities 

 Business-type 
Activities  Total 

Cash and cash equivalents 1,229,867$     1,136,496$      2,366,363$      
Restricted cash and cash equivalents -                 175,840           175,840           
(See notes 14 & 15 for details)

Total primary government 1,229,867$     1,312,336$      2,542,203$      
 

 
The breakdown between deposits and investments is as follows: 
 

 Primary Government 
Bank deposits (checking and savings accounts, 
money markets and certificates of deposit) 2,541,723$                 
Petty cash and cash on hand 480                            

2,542,203$                  
 
Interest rate risk – The Village does not have a formal investment policy to manage its exposure to fair value losses from 
changes in interest rates. 
 
Credit risk – State statutes authorize the Village to make deposits and invest in the accounts of federally insured banks, 
credit unions, and savings and loan associations which have an office in Michigan. The local unit is allowed to invest in 
bonds, securities and other obligations of the United States, or any agency or instrumentality of the United States. United 
States government or federal agency obligations; repurchase agreements; bankers acceptance of United States Banks; 
commercial paper rated within the two highest classifications which mature not more than 270 days after the date of 
purchase; obligations of the State of Michigan or any of its political subdivisions, which are rated as investment grade; and 
mutual funds composed of investment vehicles that are legal for direct investment by local units of government in 
Michigan. 
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Concentration of credit risk – The Village has no policy that would limit the amount that may be issued by any one issuer. 
 
Custodial credit risk - deposits – In the case of deposits, this is the risk that in the event of bank failure, the Village’s 
deposits may not be returned to it. The Village does not have a policy for custodial credit risk. As of year end,             
$1,573,913 was exposed to custodial credit risk because it was uninsured and uncollateralized. The carrying value on the 
books for deposits at the end of the year was $2,542,203. 
 
Custodial credit risk – investments – For an investment, this is the risk that, in the event of the failure of the counterparty, 
the Village will not be able to recover the value of its investments or collateral securities that are in the possession of an 
outside party. There were no investments held at year end. 
 
Fair value measurement - The Village is required to disclose amounts within a framework established for measuring fair 
value. That framework provides a fair value hierarchy that prioritizes the inputs to valuation techniques used to measure 
fair value. The hierarchy gives the highest priority to unadjusted quoted prices in active markets for identical assets or 
liabilities (level 1 measurements) and the lowest priority to unobservable inputs (level 3 measurements). The three levels 
of the fair value hierarchy are described as follows: 
 
Level 1: Quoted prices in active markets for identical securities. 
 
Level 2: Prices determined using other significant observable inputs. Observable inputs are inputs that other market 
participants may use in pricing a security. These may include prices for similar securities, interest rates, prepayment 
speeds, credit risk and others. 
 
Level 3: Prices determined using significant unobservable inputs. In situations where quoted prices or observable inputs 
are unavailable or deemed less relevant, unobservable inputs may be used. Unobservable inputs reflect the Village's own 
assumptions about the factors market participants would use in pricing and investment and would be based on the best 
information available. 
 
The asset or liability's fair value measurement level within the fair value hierarchy is based on the lowest level of any input 
that is significant to the fair value measurement. Valuation techniques used need to maximize the use of observable 
inputs and minimize the use of unobservable inputs. 
 
The Village does not have any investments subject to the fair value measurement. 
 
Foreign currency risk. The Village is not authorized to invest in investments which have this type of risk. 
 
 
NOTE 3 - UNAVAILABLE & UNEARNED REVENUE 
Governmental funds defer revenue recognition in connection with resources that have been received, but not earned. At 
the end of the current fiscal year, unearned revenues consisted of $20,308 of rental income and energy credits received 
prior to meeting earning requirements. 
 
Governmental funds report deferred inflows of resources in connection with receivables for revenues that are not 
considered to be available to liquidate liabilities of the current period. At the end of the current fiscal year, the various 
components of deferred inflows of resources reported in governmental funds were as follows:  
 

Unavailable
Governmental funds

Miscellaneous receivable 1,950$        

1,950$        
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NOTE 4 - CAPITAL ASSETS 
Capital assets activity of the primary government for the current year was as follows: 

Beginning Balance Increases Decreases Ending Balance
Governmental activities
Capital assets not being depreciated

Land 461,354$                -$                 -$                   461,354$            

Total capital assets not being depreciated 461,354                  -                   -                     461,354              

Capital assets being depreciated
Land improvements 451,327                  177,270       -                     628,597              
Infrastructure 8,900,500               398,083       -                     9,298,583           
Buildings, additions and improvements 908,311                  9,543           95,000           822,854              
Machinery and equipment 1,873,511               104,325       29,461           1,948,375           

Total capital assets being depreciated 12,133,649             689,221       124,461         12,698,409         

Less accumulated depreciation for
Land improvements 322,221                  17,550         -                     339,771              
Infrastructure 7,321,352               193,578       -                     7,514,930           
Buildings, additions and improvements 652,403                  15,572         25,135           642,840              
Machinery and equipment 1,332,989               125,695       29,461           1,429,223           

Total accumulated depreciation 9,628,965               352,395       54,596           9,926,764           

Net capital assets being depreciated 2,504,684               336,826       69,865           2,771,645           

Governmental activities capital assets, net 2,966,038$             336,826$     69,865$         3,232,999$         
 

 
Beginning Balance  Increases/ 

Reclassify 
Decreases Ending Balance

Business-type activities
Capital assets being depreciated

Buildings, additions and improvements 3,232,406$             -$                 -$                   3,232,406$         
Machinery and equipment 182,084                  -                   -                     182,084              
Water system 3,085,034               118,499       -                     3,203,533           
Sew er system 4,448,308               24,541         -                     4,472,849           

Total capital assets being depreciated 10,947,832             143,040       -                     11,090,872         

Less accumulated depreciation for
Buildings, additions and improvements 2,588,174               75,342         -                     2,663,516           
Machinery and equipment 182,084                  -                   -                     182,084              
Water system 1,490,754               64,601         -                     1,555,355           
Sew er system 3,888,897               43,880         -                     3,932,777           

Total accumulated depreciation 8,149,909               183,823       -                     8,333,732           

Net capital assets being depreciated 2,797,923               (40,783)        -                     2,757,140           

Business-type capital assets, net 2,797,923$             (40,783)$      -$                   2,757,140$         
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Depreciation expense was charged to programs of the primary Village as follows: 
 
Governmental activities
General government 78,015$     
Public safety 87,472      
Public works 26,005      
Health and welfare
Community and economic development 2,364        
Recreation and culture 42,554      
Other functions
Capital assets held by the government's internal service funds 115,985     

Total governmental activities 352,395     

Business-type activities
Sewer 119,222     
Water 64,601      

Total business-type activities 183,823     

Total primary government 536,218$   
 

 
 
NOTE 5 - INTERFUND PAYABLES AND RECEIVABLES 
The outstanding balances between funds result mainly from the time lag between the dates that 1) interfund goods and 
services are provided or reimbursable expenditures occur, 2) transactions are recorded in the accounting system, and 3) 
payments between funds are made. 
 
There are no interfund payables or receivables outstanding at December 31, 2019. 
 
 
NOTE 6 -TRANSFERS 
Transfers are used to move unrestricted general fund revenues to finance various programs that the Village must account 
for in other funds in accordance with budgetary authorizations, including amounts provided as subsidies or matching 
funds for various grant programs.  
 
During the year ended December 31, 2019, the Major Street Fund transferred $310,000 to the Local Street Fund to 
subsidize operations. 
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NOTE 7 – LEASES 
 
Capital leases 
 
The Village leases police vehicles and a DPW truck under agreements classified as capital leases. The cost and 
accumulated depreciation as of December 31, 2019 related to such equipment is as follows: 
 
Machinery and equipment 98,252$              

Less accumulated depreciation 36,719               

Total 61,533$              
 

 
The present value of future minimum lease payments under capital leases as of December 31, 2019 is as follows: 
 
Year ending December 31, 2020 34,938$              
Year ending December 31, 2021 23,788               

Total minimum lease payments 58,726               

Less amount representing interest 5,242                 

Present value of minimum lease payments 53,484$              
 

 
Operating leases   
 
The Village has an operating lease agreement for a copy machine with total monthly payments of $451. In addition, the 
Village has an operating lease with Abadata Computer Corporation for firewall and back up equipment with a total monthly 
payment of $531. Lease expense for the current year was $11,782. 
 
The total future payments due under this lease is as follows: 
 

Year ending December 31,
2020 11,782$  
2021 7,535     
2022 5,412     

Total 24,729$  
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NOTE 8 - LONG-TERM DEBT 
The Village issues bonds to provide for the acquisition and construction of major capital projects. General obligation 
bonds are direct obligations and pledge the full faith and credit of the government. Installment purchase agreements are 
also general obligations of the government. Other long-term obligations include compensated absences. Compensated 
absences are typically liquidated with funds from the General Fund, Sewer Fund and Water Fund.  
 
Long-term obligation activity is summarized as follows: 
 

Interest Principal
Amount of Maturity Rate Maturity Beginning Ending Due Within

Issue Date Ranges Ranges Balance Additions Reductions Balance One Year
 Governmental activities 
Bonds and notes payable
Installment purchase agreements

 Bank loan                    
(secured by properties) 

121,500$       2026 4.95% $1,167 -  $1,711 114,219$       -$                   54,335$   59,884$       7,363$       

 Total bonds and notes 
payable 

114,219          -                      54,335      59,884          7,363          

 Capital leases  
 Capitalized lease -  vehic le 
(secured by vehicle) 

31,450$         2020 6.50% $9,831- 11,150 20,300          -                9,831          10,469           10,469        

 Capitalized lease -  vehic le 
(secured by vehicle) 

34,744$        2021 6.99% $10,808- 12,372 -                        34,744        12,372       22,372          10,808        

 Capitalized lease -  vehic le 
(secured by vehicle) 

32,058$        2021 6.99% $9,973- 11,416 -                        32,058        11,415         20,643          9,973          

 Total capitalized leases 20,300          66,802        33,618       53,484          31,250        
 Compensated absences 10,939           768                -                    11,707            11,707         

 Total governmental activities 145,458$     67,570$     87,953$   125,075$     50,320$    

Interest Principal
Amount of Maturity Rate Maturity Beginning Ending Due Within

Issue Date Ranges Ranges Balance Additions Reductions Balance One Year

Business- type activities
Bonds and notes payable

General revenue bonds
 USDA Rural Development 
(secured by plant) 1,858,000$  2046 4.125% $15,000 -  $92,000 1,576,000$ -$             31,000$    1,545,000$ 32,000$    

 WWTP Bank Loan 450,000$     2024 4.99% $35794- 55480 64,065          -                64,065      -                  -               
 (secured by sewage disposal  
 system  revenue) 
 WWTP Bank Loan 141,000$       2023 3.64% $28,200 141,000         -                28,200      112,800         28,200       
 (secured by Grit System) 

 Total business- type 
activities 1,781,065$  -$             123,265$ 1,657,800$ 60,200$    
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Annual debt service requirements to maturity for the above obligations are as follows: 
 

Year Ending
 December 31, Principal Interest Principal Interest

2020 38,613$        6,487$         60,200$        68,299$        
2021 29,970         3,980           62,200         65,491         
2022 8,128           2,034           63,200         63,061         
2023 8,539           1,623           64,200         60,592         
2024 8,972           1,190           38,000         58,080         

2025-2029 19,146         994              214,000        265,648        
2030-2034 -               -               261,000        217,802        
2035-2039 -               -               322,000        159,018        
2040-2044 -               -               392,000        87,202         
2045 -2049 -               -               181,000      11,262       

113,368        16,308$        1,657,800$   1,056,455$   
Compensated 

absences 11,707         

125,075$      

Governmental Activities Business-type Activities

 
 
 
NOTE 9 - RISK MANAGEMENT 
The Village is exposed to various risks of loss related to property loss, torts, errors and omissions and employee injuries 
(workers’ compensation), as well as medical benefits provided to employees. The Village has purchased commercial 
insurance for all claims. Settled claims relating to the commercial insurance have not exceeded the amount of insurance 
coverage in any of the past three fiscal years. 
 
 
NOTE 10 - EMPLOYEE RETIREMENT AND BENEFIT SYSTEMS 
 

PLAN DESCRIPTION: 
The Village has instituted a defined contribution pension plan covering all full-time Village of Cass City 
employees who choose to belong to the plan. It was administered by ICMA Retirement Corporation through 
April 2019 and through Michigan Employees’ Retirement System (MERS) starting in May 2019. The plan has 
been adopted under the provisions of 401(a) of the Internal Revenue Code.  
 
A defined contribution pension plan provides pension benefits in return for services rendered, provides an 
individual account for each participant, and specifies how contributions to the individual's account are to be 
determined instead of specifying the amount of benefits the individual is to receive. Under a defined 
contribution pension plan, the benefits a participant will receive depend solely on the amount contributed to the 
participant's account, the returns earned on the investments of those contributions, and forfeitures of other 
participants benefits that may be allocated to such participant's account. The plan allows the employer to 
contribute up to 10% of the participating employee's gross wages, with tiered vesting. In addition, plan 
members can contribute up to 4% of their annual wages to the plan. During the most recent plan year, the 
Village's required and actual contribution is equal to an amount of each employee’s annual salary to the plan. 
During the year ended December 31, 2019, the Village contributed $84,329 to the plan and plan members also 
contributed $34,506. Pension expense for the fiscal year ended December 31, 2019 was $84,329. 
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NOTE 11 - DEFERRED COMPENSATION PLAN 
The Village Council offers all Village of Cass City employees a deferred compensation plan created in accordance with 
the Internal Revenue Code, Section 457. The assets of the plans were held in trust, (custodial account or annuity 
contract) as described in IRC Section 457 (g) for the exclusive benefit of the participants (employees) and their 
beneficiaries. The custodian thereof for the exclusive benefit of the participants holds the custodial account for the 
beneficiaries of this Section 457 plan, and the assets may not be diverted to any other use. The Administrators are agents 
of the employer for purposes of providing direction to the custodian of the custodial account from time to time for the 
investment of the funds held in the account, transfer of assets to or from the account and all other matters. In accordance 
with the provisions of GASB Statement 32, plan balances and activities are not reflected in Village of Cass City's financial 
statements. 
 
 
NOTE 12 - POST EMPLOYMENT BENEFITS OTHER THAN PENSIONS 
 
General Information About the Plan 
Plan administration. The Village of Cass City administers a single-employer defined benefit healthcare plan (the “Plan”). 
The Plan provides health insurance benefits to one retiree, which is funded on the pay-as-you-go basis. In accordance 
with Village policy, the eligible retiree receives healthcare benefits through premium coverage.  
 
Plan membership. At December 31, 2019, Plan membership consisted of the following: 
 

Inactive plan members currently receiving benefit payments  1 
Active plan members        0  
Total membership       1 

 
Benefits provided. The Village Council has the authority to establish or amend benefit terms, to determine the types of 
benefits provided through the Plan, and to determine the classes of plan members covered. The Village closed the plan to 
new entrants, but provides health insurance benefits for one eligible retiree. The benefit terms provide for payment of 
100% of health insurance premiums.  
 
Contributions. The contribution requirements of Plan members and the Village are established and may be amended by 
the Village Council. The required contribution is based on projected pay-as-you-go financing requirements. The total 
contributions paid for 2019 were $9,289. 
 
Assumptions. The total OPEB liability was determined by a valuation using the alternative measurement method as of 
December 31, 2019, using the following assumptions (which were determined by management utilizing the best 
information available), applied to all periods included in the measurement, unless otherwise specified: 
 
Inflation rate – Implicit in premium 
 
Salary increases – Not applicable because of no active plan members 
 
Investment rate of return – Not applicable because plan is not pre-funded 
 
Healthcare cost trend rate – The expected rate of increase in healthcare insurance premiums was based on projections 
by the Village’s management. An initial rate decrease of 6.0 percent was used for 2018, and no material change 
anticipated each year following.  
 
Retirement age for active employees – Not applicable because of no active plan members 
 
Marital status – Not applicable because of no benefits provided to spouse. 
 
Mortality – Life expectancies were based on mortality tables from the Social Security Administration (SSA). The 2016 SSA 
Actuarial Life Table for males was used. 
 
Health insurance premiums – The 2019 health insurance premium for the retiree was used as the basis for calculation of 
the present value of total benefits to be paid. 
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Probability of accepting benefits – Based on the historical participation rate, a probability rate of accepting benefits of 
100% was utilized. 
 
Discount Rate. The discount rate used to measure the total OPEB liability was 3.26%. Because the Plan does not have a 
dedicated OPEB trust, there are no assets projected to be sufficient to make projected future benefit payments of current 
plan members. Projected benefits were discounted at a discount rate reflecting a 20 year AA/Aa tax-exempt municipal 
bond yield. A single equivalent discount rate that yields the same present value of benefits is calculated. This discount 
rate is used to determine the total OPEB liability. 
 
Changes in the Total OPEB Liability 
 
The components of the change in the total OPEB liability are summarized as following: 
 

Balance at December 31, 2018 42,768$         

Changes for the year:
Service cost and interest (7,388)           

Net change (7,388)           

Balance at December 31, 2019 35,380$         

 
Sensitivity of the total OPEB liability to changes in the discount rate. The following presents the total OPEB liability of the 
Village, calculated using the discount rate of 3.26%, as well as what the Village’s total OPEB liability would be if it were 
calculated using a discount rate that is 1% lower (2.26%) or 1% higher (4.26%) than the current rate: 
 

Current 
1% Decrease Discount Rate 1% Increase

(2.26%) (3.26%) (4.26%)

35,917$             35,380$             34,850$              
 

Sensitivity of the total OPEB liability to changes in the healthcare cost trend rates. The following presents the total OPEB 
liability of the Village, calculated using the healthcare cost trend rate of a 0% decrease for 2019, as well as what the 
Village’s total OPEB liability would be if it were calculated using a healthcare cost trend rate that is 1% lower or 1% higher 
than the current rate: 
 

Current 
Healthcare Cost

Trend Rate
1% Decrease (0% change) 1% Increase

35,026$             35,380$             35,734$              
 
OPEB Expense and Payable to Plan 
 
For the year ended December 31, 2019, the Village recognized a decrease in OPEB expense of $7,388. At December 31, 
2019, the Village had no amounts payable for contributions to the Plan. 
  
 
NOTE 13 - CONTINGENT LIABILITIES 
Amounts received or receivable from grant agencies are subject to audit and adjustment by grantor agencies, principally 
the federal government. Any disallowed claims, including amounts already collected, may constitute a liability of the 
applicable funds. The amount, if any, of expenditures that may be disallowed by the grantor cannot be determined at this 
time, although the Village expects such amounts, if any, to be immaterial. 
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NOTE 14 - RESERVE FOR REPAIR, REPLACEMENTS AND IMPROVEMENT (RRI) 
The loan agreement covering the note payable to Rural Development requires that the Village accumulate at a rate of not 
less than $3,000 annually to a reserve account for the life of the loan. The following summarizes the transactions in the 
reserve for RRI for the year ended December 31: 

2019 2018

Beginning Balance 67,680$        55,120$        
Additions 12,560          12,560          

Ending Balance 80,240$        67,680$        
 

 
At December 31, 2019 and 2018, the reserve for RRI was in compliance with the minimum balance as set forth by Rural 
Development. 
 
 
NOTE 15 - RESERVE FOR BOND 
The loan agreement covering the note payable to Rural Development requires that the Village accumulate at a rate of not 
less than $9,560 annually to a reserve account until the account reaches the sum of $95,600. When the reserve for bond 
account is fully funded, the $9,560 annual requirement must be added to the reserve for RRI account annually for the life 
of the loan. The following summarizes the transactions in the reserve for bond for the year ended December 31: 
 

2019 2018

Beginning Balance 95,600$            95,600$            
Additions -                      -                      
Withdrawals -                      -                      

Ending Balance 95,600$            95,600$            
 

At December 31, 2019 and 2018, the reserve for bond was in compliance with the minimum balance as set forth by Rural 
Development. 
 
 
NOTE 16 – TAX ABATEMENTS 
 
INDUSTRIAL FACILITIES EXEMPTION 
Municipalities within the Village’s boundaries entered into property tax abatement agreements with local business under 
the Plant Rehabilitation and Industrial Development Districts Act, (known as the Industrial Facilities Exemption) PA 198 of 
1974, as amended. An Industrial Facilities Tax Exemption (IFT) certificate entitles the facility to exemption from ad 
valorem real and/or personal property taxes for a term for 1-12 years as determined by the local unit of government. The 
IFT on new plant and new industrial property is computed at 50% of the taxes levied. The municipalities can elect to 
freeze the taxable values for rehabilitation properties.  
 
For the year ended December 31, 2019, the Village’s property tax revenue for general operations were reduced by 
$34,275 under this program. 
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NOTE 17 – BENEFICIAL INTERESTS IN ASSETS HELD BY FOUNDATIONS AND TRUSTS 
Beneficial interest in assets held by foundations includes amounts held by the Tuscola County Community Foundation 
(TCCF) as an endowment established for the benefit of the Village of Cass City. The endowment agreement permits the 
TCCF to substitute another beneficiary in the place of the Village in the event the Village ceases to exist, or for other 
various reasons in accordance with the TCCF’s bylaws. In addition, the Board of Trustees of the Tuscola County 
Community Foundation (Board) shall have the power to modify any restriction or condition on the distribution of funds for 
any specified charitable purposes or to a specified organization if, in the sole judgment of the Board, such restriction or 
condition becomes, in effect, unnecessary, incapable of fulfillment, or inconsistent with the charitable needs of the 
community served. Distributions of the spendable income are made to the Village upon written request. The Village did 
not receive any distributions from the TCCF for the year ended December 31, 2019. As of December 31, 2019, the fair 
value of the endowment held at TCCF was approximately $3,839. 
 
 
NOTE 18 – UPCOMING ACCOUNTING PRONOUNCEMENT 
Governmental Accounting Standards Board (GASB) Statement No. 84, Fiduciary Activities, was issued by the GASB in 
January 2017 and will be effective for the Village’s 2020 year end. The objective of this Statement is to improve guidance 
regarding the identification of fiduciary activities for accounting and financial reporting purposes and how those activities 
should be reported. This Statement establishes criteria for identifying fiduciary activities for all state and local 
governments. The focus on the criteria generally is on (1) whether a government is controlling the assets of the fiduciary 
activity and (2) the beneficiaries with whom a fiduciary relationship exists. An activity meeting the criteria should be 
reported in a fiduciary fund in the basic financial statements.  
 
Governmental Accounting Standards Board (GASB) Statement No. 87, Leases, was issued by the GASB in June 2017 
and will be effective for the Village’s 2021 year end. The objective of this Statement is to increase the usefulness of 
governments’ financial statements by requiring recognition of certain lease assets and liabilities for leases that previously 
were classified as operating leases and recognized as inflows of resources or outflows of resources based on the 
payment provisions of the contract.  It establishes a single model for lease accounting based on the foundational principle 
that leases are financings of the right to use the underlying asset.  Under this Statement, a lessee is required to recognize 
a lease liability and an intangible right-to-use lease asset, and a lessor is required to recognize a lease receivable and a 
deferred inflow of resources, thereby enhancing the relevance and consistency of information about governments’ leasing 
activities. 
 
 
 
 



REQUIRED SUPPLEMENTARY INFORMATION



Variance with

Original Final Actual Final Budget

Revenues

Taxes

Property taxes 716,935$       635,614$        635,566$       (48)$                  

Penalties and interest 500                500                 313                (187)                  

Administration fee 10,736           8,936              8,862             (74)                   

State revenue sharing and other state revenue 258,533         258,658          268,847         10,189              

State grants 900                100,667          100,610         (57)                   

Local contributions 57,000           8,690              17,974           9,284                

Charges for services 223,150         224,900          209,510         (15,390)             

Fines and forfeitures 3,900             4,175              3,548             (627)                  

Interest income 15,500           10,500            7,161             (3,339)               

Administration fee revenue 135,032         135,032          135,032         -                       

Other revenue 7,000             14,250            17,935           3,685                

Total revenues 1,429,186      1,401,922       1,405,358      3,436                

Expenditures

General government

Village council 6,100             6,100              5,197             903                   

Manager 151,570         150,370          146,367         4,003                

Clerk 160,095         151,155          148,385         2,770                

Audit 18,500           22,425            22,122           303                   

Fiscal services 96,678           95,788            83,063           12,725              

Elections 500                500                 -                    500                   

Buildings and grounds 50,579           64,579            58,226           6,353                

Total general government 484,022         490,917          463,360         27,557              

Public safety

Police 512,017         514,619          509,796         4,823                

Total public safety 512,017         514,619          509,796         4,823                

Public works

Department of public works 159,076         164,881          149,263         15,618              

Total public works 159,076         164,881          149,263         15,618              

Community and economic development

Zoning 54,164           9,564              7,918             1,646                

Total community and economic development 54,164           9,564              7,918             1,646                

Recreation and culture

Parks and recreation 388,642         276,031          250,054         25,977              

Total recreation and culture 388,642         276,031          250,054         25,977              

Total expenditures 1,597,921      1,456,012       1,380,391      75,621              

Other financing sources (uses)

Transfers out 54,265           -                      -                    -                       

Net change in fund balances (223,000)$      (54,090)$         24,967           79,057$            

Fund balance - beginning of year 462,179         

Fund balance - end of year 487,146$       

Budgeted Amounts

Year Ended December 31, 2019

Village of Cass City
Required Supplementary Information

Budgetary Comparison Schedule
General Fund
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Variance with

Original Final Actual Final Budget

Revenues

Taxes 24,765$       23,953$         23,955$        2$                    

Other state grants 308,544       309,298         304,507        (4,791)             

Interest income 4,000           6,300             6,831            531                  

Other revenue -                   1,545             1,545            -                      

Total revenues 337,309       341,096         336,838        (4,258)             

Expenditures

Current

Public works 349,309       391,096         299,041        92,055             

Total expenditures 349,309       391,096         299,041        92,055             

Other financing sources (uses)

Transfers out (310,000)      310,000         310,000        -                      

Total other financing sources and uses (310,000)      310,000         310,000        -                      

Net change in fund balances (322,000)$    (360,000)$      (272,203)       87,797$           

Fund balance - beginning of year 458,105        

Fund balance - end of year 185,902$      

Budgeted Amounts

Year Ended December 31, 2019

Village of Cass City
Required Supplementary Information

Budgetary Comparison Schedule
Major Street
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Variance with

Original Final Actual Final Budget

Revenues

Taxes 221,190$     212,356$  212,353$    (3)$                  

Other state grants 131,232       165,300    174,394      9,094              

Interest income 3,500           1,800        2,528          728                 

Other revenue 1,400           1,400        -                  (1,400)             

Total revenues 357,322       380,856    389,275      8,419              

Expenditures

Current

Public works 717,322       722,816    564,840      157,976          

Total expenditures 717,322       722,816    564,840      157,976          

Other financing sources (uses)

Transfers in 310,000       310,000    310,000      -                      

Total other financing sources and uses 310,000       310,000    310,000      -                      

Net change in fund balances (50,000)$     (31,960)$   134,435      166,395$        

Fund balance - beginning of year 73,562        

Fund balance - end of year 207,997$    

Budgeted Amounts

Year Ended December 31, 2019

Village of Cass City
Required Supplementary Information

Budgetary Comparison Schedule
Local Street
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2019 2018

Total OPEB liability

Service cost and interest (7,388)$       (3,659)$       

Net change in total OPEB liability (7,388)         (3,659)         

Total OPEB liability, beginning of year 42,768        46,427        

Total OPEB liability, end of year 35,380$      42,768$      

Covered payroll -$                -$                

(No active 

members.)

(No active 

members.)

Village's OPEB liability as a percentage 

of covered payroll 0% 0%

(No active 

members.)

(No active 

members.)

Note: GASB 75 was implemented in fiscal year 2018. This schedule is being built prospectively. 

Ultimately, 10 years of data will be presented.

Village of Cass City
Required Supplementary Information

Other Post Employment Benefits

Year Ended December 31, 2019
Schedule of Changes in Total OPEB Liability and Related Ratios
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Total OPEB Liability

Year Ended Total OPEB Covered as Percentage of

December 31 Liability Payroll Covered Payroll

2019 35,380$              -$                     0%

2018 42,768                -                       0%

Notes to Schedule of Contributions

Valuation date: December 31, 2019

Note: As an actuarially determined contribution is not calculated for the Plan, and the Plan does not 

have a contribution requirement that is established by statute or contract, a schedule covering each 

of the 10 most recent fiscal years that includes information about the statutorily or contractually

required contribution rates, contributions to the Plan, and related ratios, is not provided herein.

GASB Statement No. 75 was implemented in fiscal year 2018 and does not require retroactive 

implemention. Data will be added as information is available until 10 years of such data is available. 

Village of Cass City
Required Supplementary Information

Other Post Employment Benefits

Year Ended December 31, 2019
Schedule of Employer Contributions
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ADDITIONAL SUPPLEMENTARY INFORMATION



Total

Economic Downtown Nonmajor

Water Development Development Governmental

Recreation Corporation Authority Funds

Assets

Cash and cash equivalents 39,301$         23,112$         31,665$         94,078$           

Receivables

Customers -                     -                     650                650                  

Accrued interest and other -                     40                  55                  95                    

Total assets 39,301$         23,152$         32,370$         94,823$           

Liabilities

Accounts payable -$                   -$                   77$                77$                  

Accrued and other liabilities -                     -                     7                    7                      

Unearned revenue -                     -                     1,300             1,300               

Total liabilities -                     -                     1,384             1,384               

Fund balances

Restricted for:

Water recreation 601                -                     -                     601                  

DDA captured taxes -                     -                     30,986           30,986             

Assigned to:

EDC -                     23,152           -                     23,152             

Subsequent year expenditures 38,700           -                     -                     38,700             

Total fund balances 39,301           23,152           30,986           93,439             

Total liabilities and fund balances 39,301$         23,152$         32,370$         94,823$           

Village of Cass City
Additional Supplementary Information

Combining Balance Sheet
Nonmajor Governmental Funds

December 31, 2019

Special Revenue Funds
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Total

Economic Downtown Nonmajor

Water Development Development Governmental

Recreation Corporation Authority Funds

Revenues

Taxes -$                   -$                   28,219$         28,219$           

Local contributions 45,495           -                     -                     45,495             

Interest income 965                446                737                2,148               

Rental income -                     -                     10,600           10,600             

Total revenues 46,460           446                39,556           86,462             

Expenditures

Current

Community and economic development -                     326                34,920           35,246             

Recreation and culture 174,244         -                     -                     174,244           

Debt service

Principal retirement -                     -                     54,335           54,335             

Interest and fiscal charges -                     -                     4,308             4,308               

Total expenditures 174,244         326                93,563           268,133           

Excess (deficiency) of revenues over expenditures (127,784)        120                (54,007)          (181,671)          

Other financing sources (uses)

Sale of fixed assets -                     -                     18,482           18,482             

Total other financing sources and uses -                     -                     18,482           18,482             

Net change in fund balance (127,784)        120                (35,525)          (163,189)          

Fund balance - beginning of year 167,085         23,032           66,511           256,628           

Fund balance - end of year 39,301$         23,152$         30,986$         93,439$           

Special Revenue Funds

Year Ended December 31, 2019

Village of Cass City
Additional Supplementary Information

Combining Statement of Revenues, Expenditures and Changes in Fund Balances
Nonmajor Governmental Funds
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INDEPENDENT AUDITOR'S REPORT ON INTERNAL CONTROL OVER FINANCIAL   
REPORTING AND ON COMPLIANCE AND OTHER MATTERS BASED ON AN  

AUDIT OF FINANCIAL STATEMENTS PERFORMED IN ACCORDANCE 
WITH GOVERNMENT AUDITING STANDARDS 

 
 
 
Management and Village Council  
Village of Cass City 
Cass City, MI 48726 
 
 
We have audited, in accordance with auditing standards generally accepted in the United States of America and the 
standards applicable to financial audits contained in Government Auditing Standards, issued by the Comptroller General 
of the United States, the financial statements of the governmental activities, the business-type activities, each major fund, 
and the aggregate remaining fund information of the Village of Cass City, State of Michigan, as of and for the year ended 
December 31, 2019, and the related notes to the financial statements, which collectively comprise the Village of Cass 
City’s, State of Michigan, basic financial statements and have issued our report thereon dated May 27, 2020. 
 
Internal Control Over Financial Reporting 
 
In planning and performing our audit of the financial statements, we considered Village of Cass City’s, State of Michigan, 
internal control over financial reporting (internal control) to determine the audit procedures that are appropriate in the 
circumstances for the purpose of expressing our opinion on the financial statements, but not for the purpose of expressing 
an opinion on the effectiveness of Village of Cass City’s, State of Michigan, internal control.  Accordingly, we do not 
express an opinion on the effectiveness of the Village of Cass City’s, State of Michigan, internal control. 
 
A deficiency in internal control exists when the design or operation of a control does not allow management or employees, 
in the normal course of performing their assigned functions, to prevent, or detect and correct misstatements on a timely 
basis. A material weakness is a deficiency, or a combination of deficiencies, in internal control such that there is a 
reasonable possibility that a material misstatement of the entity’s financial statements will not be prevented, or detected 
and corrected on a timely basis. A significant deficiency is a deficiency, or a combination of deficiencies, in internal control 
that is less severe than a material weakness, yet important enough to merit attention by those charged with governance. 
 
Our consideration of internal control was for the limited purpose described in the first paragraph of this section and was 
not designed to identify all deficiencies in internal control that might be material weaknesses or significant deficiencies. 
Given these limitations, during our audit we did not identify any deficiencies in internal control that we consider to be 
material weaknesses. However, material weaknesses may exist that have not been identified. 
 
Compliance and Other Matters 
 
As part of obtaining reasonable assurance about whether Village of Cass City’s, State of Michigan, financial statements 
are free from material misstatement, we performed tests of its compliance with certain provisions of laws, regulations, 
contracts, and grant agreements, noncompliance with which could have a direct and material effect on the determination 
of financial statement amounts. However, providing an opinion on compliance with those provisions was not an objective 
of our audit, and accordingly, we do not express such an opinion. The results of our tests disclosed no instances of 
noncompliance that are required to be reported under Government Auditing Standards. 
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Purpose of this Report 
 
The purpose of this report is solely to describe the scope of our testing of internal control and compliance and the results 
of that testing, and not to provide an opinion on the effectiveness of the entity’s internal control or on compliance. This 
report is an integral part of an audit in accordance with Government Auditing Standards in considering the entity’s internal 
control and compliance. Accordingly, this communication is not suitable for any other purpose. 
 
 

 
ANDERSON, TUCKEY, BERNHARDT & DORAN, P.C. 
CERTIFIED PUBLIC ACCOUNTANTS 
CARO, MICHIGAN 
 
May 27, 2020 
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Management and the Village Council  
Village of Cass City 
PO Box 123 
Cass City, MI  48726-0123 
 
 
We have audited the financial statements of the governmental activities, the business-type activities, each major fund, and 
the aggregate remaining fund information of the Village of Cass City for the year ended December 31, 2019, and have 
issued our report thereon date May 27, 2020. Professional standards require that we provide you with the following 
information related to our audit. 
 
Our Responsibility under Auditing Standards Generally Accepted in the United States of America and Government 
Auditing Standards  
As stated in our engagement letter, our responsibility, as described by professional standards, is to express opinions 
about whether the financial statements prepared by management with your oversight are fairly presented, in all material 
respects, in conformity with U.S. generally accepted accounting principles.  Our audit of the financial statements does not 
relieve you or management of your responsibilities. 
 
As part of our audit, we considered the internal control of the Village of Cass City. Such considerations were solely for the 
purpose of determining our auditing procedures and not to provide any assurance concerning such internal control. 
 
As part of obtaining reasonable assurance about whether the Village of Cass City's financial statements are free of 
material misstatement, we performed test of its compliance with certain provisions of laws, regulations, contracts, and 
grants, noncompliance with which could have a direct and material effect on the determination of financial statement 
amounts. However, providing an opinion on compliance with those provisions was not an objective of our audit.  
 
Our responsibility for the supplementary information accompanying the financial statement, as described by professional 
standards, is to evaluate the presentation of the supplementary information in relation to the financial statements as a 
whole and to report on whether the supplementary information is fairly stated, in all material respects, in relation to the 
financial statements as a whole. 
 
Planned Scope and Timing of the Audit 
We performed the audit according to the planned scope and timing previously communicated to you. 
 
Significant Audit Findings  
 
Qualitative Aspects of Accounting Practices 
Management is responsible for the selection and use of appropriate accounting policies. The significant accounting 
policies are described in Note 1 of the financial statements. The application of existing policies was not changed during 
the year. We noted no transactions entered into by the Village during the year where there is lack of authoritative 
guidance or consensus. There are no significant transactions that have been recognized in the financial statements in a 
different period than when the transaction occurred.  
 
Accounting estimates are an integral part of the financial statements prepared by management and are based on 
management’s knowledge and experience about past and current events and assumptions about future events. Certain 
accounting estimates are particularly sensitive because of their significance to the financial statements and because of the 
possibility that future events affecting them may differ significantly from those expected. The most sensitive estimates 
affecting the Village of Cass City’s financial statements were: 

 
Management’s estimate of the allowance for doubtful accounts is based on collectability of receivables. 
We evaluated the key factors and assumptions used to develop the allowance for doubtful accounts in 
determining that it is reasonable in relation to the financial statements taken as a whole. 
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Management’s estimate of the payout of employee compensated absences upon their retirement is based 
on an expected payout. We evaluated the key factors and assumptions used to develop the balance of 
compensated absences in determining that it is reasonable in relation to the financial statements taken as 
a whole. 

 
Management estimates the lives of capital assets. We evaluated the key factors and assumptions used to 
develop the estimated life span of the capital assets in determining that it is reasonable in relation to the 
financial statements taken as a whole. 
 
Other postemployment benefits. Estimates have been used to calculate the total other postemployment 
benefit liability. The estimate is derived from a calculation including factors such as life expectancy, 
historical insurance costs, and the applicable federal interest rates in effect at the time of the calculation. 

 
The disclosures in the financial statements are neutral, consistent and clear. Certain financial statement disclosures are 
particularly sensitive because of their significance to financial statement users. We did not identify any sensitive 
disclosures. 
 
Difficulties Encountered in Performing the Audit 
We encountered no significant difficulties in dealing with management in performing and completing our audit.  
 
Corrected and Uncorrected Misstatements 
Professional standards require us to accumulate all known and likely misstatements identified during the audit, other than 
those that are clearly trivial, and communicate them to the appropriate level of management. Management has corrected 
all such misstatements. In addition, none of the misstatements detected as a result of audit procedures and corrected by 
management were material, either individually or in the aggregate, to each opinion units financial statements taken as a 
whole. 
 
Disagreements with Management 
For purposes of this letter, a disagreement with management is a financial accounting, reporting or auditing matter, 
whether or not resolved to our satisfaction that could be significant to the financial statements or the auditors’ report.  We 
are pleased to report that no such disagreements arose during the course of our audit.  
 
Management Representations 
We have requested certain representations from management that are included in the management representation letter 
dated as of the date of the audit report. 
 
Management’s Consultations with Other Independent Accountants 
In some cases, management may decide to consult with other accountants about auditing and accounting matters, similar 
to obtaining a “second opinion” on certain situations. If a consultation involves application of an accounting principle to the 
Village’s financial statements or a determination of the type of auditor’s opinion that may be expressed on those 
statements, our professional standards require the consulting accountant to check with us to determine that the consultant 
has all the relevant facts. To our knowledge, there were no such consultations with other accountants. 
 
Other Audit Findings or Issues 
We generally discuss a variety of matters, including the application of accounting principles and auditing standards, with 
management each year prior to retention as the Village’s auditors. However, these discussions occurred in the normal 
course of our professional relationship and our responses were not a condition to our retention. 
 
Other Reports 
Other information that is required to be reported to you is included in the Independent Auditor’s Report on Internal Control 
Over Financial Reporting and on Compliance and Other Matters Based on an Audit of Financial Statements Performed in 
Accordance with Government Auditing Standards. Please read all information included in that report to ensure you are 
aware of relevant information. 
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Other Matters 
We applied certain limited procedures to the required supplementary information (RSI) which are required and 
supplement the basic financial statements.  Our procedures consisted of inquiries of management regarding the methods 
of preparing the information and comparing the information for consistency with management’s responses to our inquiries, 
the basic financial statements, other knowledge we obtained during the audit of the basic financial statements.  We did not 
audit the RSI and do not express an opinion or provide any assurance on the RSI. 
 
We were engaged to report on additional supplementary information, which accompany the financial statements but are 
not RSI. With respect to this supplementary information, we made certain inquiries of management and evaluated the 
form, content, and methods of preparing the information to determine that the information complies with accounting 
principles generally accepted in the United States of America, the method of preparing it has not changed from the prior 
period, and the information is appropriate and complete in relation to our audit of the financial statements. We compared 
and reconciled the supplementary information to the underlying accounting records used to prepare the financial 
statements or to the financial statements themselves. 
 
Restriction on Use 
This information is intended solely for the use of the Village Council and management of Village of Cass City and is not 
intended to be and should not be used by anyone other than these specified parties. 
 
Very truly yours, 
 

 
Anderson, Tuckey, Bernhardt, & Doran, P.C. 
Certified Public Accountants 
Caro, Michigan 
 
May 27, 2020 
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Management and the Village Council  
Village of Cass City 
PO Box 123 
Cass City, MI  48726-0123 
 
In planning and performing our audit of the financial statements of Village of Cass City as of and for the year ended 
December 31, 2019, in accordance with auditing standards generally accepted in the United States of America, we 
considered Village of Cass City’s internal control over financial reporting (internal control) as a basis for designing our 
audit procedures for the purpose of expressing our opinion on the financial statements, but not for the purpose of 
expressing an opinion on the effectiveness of the Village’s internal control. Accordingly, we do not express an opinion on 
the effectiveness of the Village’s internal control. 
 
Our consideration of internal control was for the limited purpose described in the preceding paragraph and would not 
necessarily identify all deficiencies in internal control that might be significant deficiencies or material weaknesses.  
However, during our audit, we noted certain matters involving internal control and other operational matters that are 
presented for your consideration.  This letter does not affect our report dated May 27, 2020 on the financial statements of 
Village of Cass City.  We will review the status of these comments during our next audit engagement. Our comments and 
recommendations, all of which have been discussed with appropriate members of management, are intended to improve 
the internal control or result in other operating efficiencies. We will be pleased to discuss these comments in further detail 
at your convenience, perform any additional study of these matters, or assist you in implementing the recommendations.   
 
The following comments relate to the Village of Cass City’s accounting, financial, and administrative policies and 
procedures that we observed during the course of our audit. These matters are not considered control deficiencies or 
material weaknesses as defined by professional standards. 
 
Pool Cash Collection Procedures 
The Village maintains funds for community pool-related income and expenses. Because cash handling typically does not 
involve a significant amount of dollars and many times it is young seasonal employees assisting with pool activities, 
internal controls over these funds may not be as strong as desired. To help improve the internal controls, we encourage 
the Village to provide a set of written procedures that should be followed by the individuals involved in pool-related 
activities. 
 
This information is intended solely for the use of the Village Council and management of Village of Cass City and is not 
intended to be and should not be used by anyone other than these specified parties. 
 
We appreciate the opportunity to be of service to the Village of Cass City and look forward each year to continuing our 
relationship.  The cooperation extended to us by your staff throughout the audit was greatly appreciated. Should you wish 
to discuss any item included in this letter further, we would be happy to do so. 
 
Very truly yours, 
 

 
Anderson, Tuckey, Bernhardt, & Doran, P.C. 
Certified Public Accountants 
Caro, Michigan 
 
May 27, 2020 
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